JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1). The Superior Court issued a final order disposing of all claims on March 1, 2023. Plaintiffs filed a timely petition for review on March 21, 2023. D.C. App. R. 4(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Superior Court erred in dismissing as untimely Counts 2-9, in full or in part, when the statute of limitations was equitably tolled.
- 2. Whether the Superior Court erred in dismissing Counts 1-3, 5, and 9-12 under the Anti-SLAPP Act.
 - A. Whether the court improperly applied this Court's mandate regarding Step One of the Anti-SLAPP Act, *ASA v. Bronner*,259 A.3d 728 (D.C. 2021) ("*Bronner II*"), to conclude that Counts 1-3, 5, and 9-12 "arise[] from" a protected activity under D.C. Code § 16-5502(b).
 - B. Whether the court improperly concluded, under Step Two of the Act, that Plaintiffs' claims were not likely to succeed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was brought by four professors, long-time members of the American Studies Association ("ASA"), an academic society incorporated in 1951 for the sole purpose of promoting the study of American culture. Beginning in 2012, Defendants engineered a systematic and covert takeover in order to cause the ASA to adopt a boycott proscribing academic engagement with Israeli universities (the "Boycott Resolution"), in contravention of ASA bylaws forbidding substantial political involvement. Because Defendants knew their intended agenda was both overwhelmingly disfavored by ASA membership and would likely harm the institution, they employed illegal corporate tactics to ensure that Boycott supporters were elected and that the Resolution passed. First, they secretly obtained control of the ASA nomination process to ensure that only Boycott supporters were nominated for leadership positions. Next, they leveraged ASA resources to facilitate adoption of the Boycott. Then, in violation of the ASA constitution, they froze membership and voting rolls one week before announcing that membership would vote on the Boycott, which they knew would disenfranchise anti-Boycott members who had withheld membership fees in protest. Finally, with only 21% of members in support, Defendants declared the Resolution passed—in clear violation of both ASA bylaws and D.C. law.

When the Resolution wrought predictable financial havoc on the ASA, and its Encyclopedia (a major source of income) was shuttered, Plaintiffs sued Defendants—their fiduciaries who were bound by corporate bylaws and entrusted with the wellbeing of the ASA. Plaintiffs charged violations of the ASA's constitution and bylaws, D.C. statutes on corporate governance, and other corporate torts. Plaintiffs sued first in federal court; and when the federal court determined that it had lost jurisdiction—three years after filing and after twice ruling to the contrary—Plaintiffs immediately sued in Superior Court.

Throughout this litigation, Defendants have attempted to immunize their illegal conduct by claiming that Plaintiffs' real goal is to stifle speech about the Boycott and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. But this case is not about speech, the merits of an academic boycott of Israel, or indeed, the positions expressed in any of Defendants' statements at all. There is no claim here, for example, that Defendants' personal views on the Boycott or Israel are wrong. Rather, Plaintiffs' claims concern corporate governance: They seek recompense for the financial harm wrought by Defendants' violations of laws, bylaws, and fiduciary obligations. This Court has held, in this very case, that the Anti-SLAPP Act was not "meant to benefit" people or entities like Defendants, who are accused of "misappropriating entrusted funds" but then claim immunity because the misappropriated "funds were used in furtherance of the right of advocacy." Joint Appendix ("JA") 352 (ASA v.

Bronner, 259 A.3d 728, 740-41 (D.C. 2021) ("Bronner II")). Additionally, Plaintiffs have "proffer[ed]" sufficient evidence to overcome any challenges to their claims, JA345. Finally, Plaintiffs' claims are not barred by the statute of limitations, as the Superior Court wrongly held.

The judgment should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Anti-SLAPP Act

A "SLAPP," or "strategic lawsuit against public participation," is "an action 'filed by one side of a political or public policy debate aimed to punish or prevent the expression of opposing points of view." *Competitive Enter. Inst. v. Mann*, 150 A.3d 1213, 1226 (D.C. 2016) (quoting Council of the District of Columbia, Report of Committee on Public Safety and the Judiciary on Bill 18-893, at 1 (Nov. 18, 2010) ("Anti-SLAPP Report")). "[T]he D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act was designed to protect targets of ... meritless lawsuits by creating 'substantive rights with regard to a defendant's ability to fend off' a SLAPP." *Id.* (quoting Anti-SLAPP Report at 1). In creating these rights, lawmakers were trying to protect "normal, middle-class and blue-collar Americans" and other "grassroots activis[ts]" from being "sued into silence" by litigants not trying to "win the lawsuit," but to "punish the opponent and intimidate them into silence." *See* Anti-SLAPP Report at 1-3.

Litigants who feel they have been targeted by a SLAPP lawsuit are

empowered, under the Anti-SLAPP Act, to file a "special" motion to dismiss.

D.C. Code § 16-5502. This is "essentially an expedited summary judgment motion" that demands a slightly elevated burden of proof and "accelerates the consideration of available defenses," such that a targeted litigant may bring time-consuming and non-meritorious claims to a speedy end. JA344-346 (*Bronner II*).

Courts analyze these special motions under a "two-step analysis." JA355 (*Bronner II*). At Step One, the movant must "make[] a prima facie showing that the claim at issue arises from an act in furtherance of the right of advocacy on issues of public interest." D.C. Code § 16-5502(b). Should the movant prevail, at Step Two the burden shifts to the plaintiff to "demonstrate[] that the claim is likely to succeed on the merits." *Id.* A claim is likely to succeed when "a jury properly instructed on the applicable legal and constitutional standards could reasonably find that the claim is supported in light of the evidence that has been produced or proffered in connection with the motion." *Mann*, 150 A.3d at 1232.

B. Factual Background

1. The American Studies Association and the parties

The American Studies Association ("ASA") is the nation's largest and oldest organization dedicated to the promotion of the study of American culture.

JA37-38. It was founded in 1951 for the sole purpose of advancing the academic field of American Studies. JA40.

In 1971, the ASA incorporated under the D.C. Nonprofit Corporation Act. JA41. The ASA thus agreed that it would be "organized exclusively for education and academic purposes." JA285. It also agreed that "no substantial part of [its] activities" would be "carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attempting, to influence legislation." JA286.

The ASA's leadership includes five officers: the president, vice president, executive director, editor of the *American Quarterly* journal, and editor of the Encyclopedia of American Studies ("the Encyclopedia"). JA242-243.¹ The president and vice president were elected; all others were appointed. JA242. All five officers were members of the National Council, alongside other elected members, and were responsible for conducting ASA's "business," setting "fiscal policy," and "oversee[ing]" the ASA's "general interests." JA243. An Executive Committee implemented the National Council's directives. JA48-49. The president ensured that the ASA's "chartered obligations and purposes" are fulfilled. JA49, 57.

A Board of Trustees, which consisted of the vice president and four ASA members appointed by the president, managed the ASA's "Trust and Development Fund." JA149. This Fund was designed to ensure "the long-term financial stability

¹ This discussion reflects the ASA constitution and bylaws as they read in 2012-2013, a copy of which begins at JA146.

of the association," and Trustees were required to direct it "in a fiscally sound and socially responsible manner." *Id*.

Plaintiffs-Appellants are four professors of American Studies who are longtime members of the ASA. Simon Bronner was a professor at Pennsylvania State University, an honorary lifetime member of the ASA, a former editor of the Encyclopedia of American Studies, and former member of the ASA National Council. JA36-37. Michael Rockland is a professor at Rutgers. JA37. Michael Barton and Charles Kupfer are professors at Pennsylvania State University. *Id*.

Defendants-Appellees are the ASA and the individuals who transformed it from a neutral academic organization to one that has publicly endorsed a political boycott proscribing any engagement with Israeli universities, including intellectual discourse, research collaboration, or study abroad programs.

Defendants Kauanui and Maira are two founding members of the United States Campaign for the Academic and Cultural Boycott of Israel ("USACBI"). JA42-43. Defendants Maira, Tadiar, Kauanui, and Puar are all members of USACBI leadership. JA38-39.

Except for Defendant Salaita, who was on the ASA National Council from 2015 through 2018, the individual Defendants were all ASA members and officers in 2013, who served on either the ASA National Council, Executive Committee,

Activism Caucus, Nominating Committee, or as Executive Director or President.

JA36-39.

2. Efforts to achieve ASA adoption of the Boycott

In 2012, USACBI leadership, including many of the defendants in this case, began a concerted effort to capture the ASA and compel it to publicly adopt the Boycott. Defendants perpetuated these efforts through a systematic and covert three-step process, in which they first obtained control of ASA's nominations process, ensuring that only Boycott supporters were nominated for leadership positions; leveraged ASA resources to encourage adoption of the Boycott; and, when that failed, manipulated and violated ASA voting procedures to force the Boycott through.

a) Defendants covertly pack the ASA National Council

Defendant Puar was on the ASA Nominating Committee from 2010 to 2013. JA51-52. Beginning in 2012, in coordination with USACBI leadership, Puar began to focus on getting the ASA to adopt a resolution to academically boycott Israel—the "Boycott Resolution"—starting with a concerted, covert effort to "populat[e] [the National Council] with as many supporters as possible." JA47-47, 197-198; *see also* JA57. Puar did not disclose any such intention during her candidacy for the Nominating Committee. JA51-52.

This effort involved manipulation of the ASA nomination process. ASA

leadership is elected by members, who may each vote for one of two candidates per open position. All candidates for president, National Council, and Nominating Committee are selected by the Nominating Committee itself, save a few irrelevant exceptions. JA48. ASA nominees are required to "be representative of the diversity of the association's membership." JA53, 148.

Before June 2012, no members of USACBI leadership were on the ASA Executive Committee or National Council or had ever been nominated for ASA president. JA49. But starting in 2012, and for four consecutive years, every candidate the Nominating Committee selected for president favored the Boycott—rendering ASA members with no option but to vote for a Boycott endorser for ASA president. *Id.* And in 2013, the three National Council members selected by the National Council to sit on the Executive Committee were also Boycott supporters. JA56. That same year, seven of the twelve Nominating Committee nominations for open positions were Boycott endorsers. JA53.

But ASA members largely did not know that were voting for Boycott endorsers. Neither Defendant Marez (2012 president) nor Defendant Duggan (2013 president) disclosed their plans to usher in a boycott. JA49-50. Nor did Maira or Kaunaui—successful 2013 National Council candidates. JA53-54.

Defendants intentionally hid their Boycott agenda from ASA members.

Maira explained that it would "be more strategic not to present ourselves as a pro-

boycott slate," because the candidates "need[ed] to get on the Council and ... our larger goal is support for the resolution, not to test support at this early stage from 'outside.'" JA54-55, 201-202. Another Boycott advocate agreed it would be better to "emphasiz[e] support for academic freedom" rather than "specifying [the Boycott]," despite a third member cautioning that "not revealing something this important *and intentional* and then hoping later to use the American Studies Association national council as a vehicle to advance our cause will not work and may well backfire." JA55 (emphasis added). Ultimately, of the three nominees in that discussion, the only one to publicly declare support for the Boycott lost the election. Maira and Kauanui obscured their motives—and won. *See* JA54-56.

In short, Puar, Kauanui, Maira, Marez, and Duggan all attained elected ASA leadership positions in part by concealing their own agendas, which they knew to be material to ASA members. *See* JA57. They did so in violation of their fiduciary duties to the ASA, including the duty to "fully disclose all material facts" to the association. *Wisc. Ave. Assocs. v. 2720 Wisc. Ave. Co-op. Ass'n*, 441 A.2d 956, 962-963 (D.C. 1982); JA96.

By Defendants' design, the candidates they advanced did not reflect the diversity of ASA membership as required by the ASA constitution. JA148, 124-

127. As of 2013, of 4,000 ASA members, at most only 800 endorsed a boycott.

JA53, 66, 205.²

b) Defendants exploit ASA resources to advance the Boycott

Packing the ASA leadership with covert Boycott supporters provided USACBI with the infrastructure to reach thousands of academics. In 2012, two USACBI leaders, Malini Schueller and Maira, assumed leadership of the ASA's Activism Caucus—designed to advance "issues of academic activism and social justice specific to American Studies"—and singularly dedicated it to adoption of the Boycott Resolution. JA59-60.

At ASA's 2012 annual meeting, Schueller and Maira stationed a USACBI representative next to the ASA registration table to encourage ASA members to "sign a petition endorsing the [Boycott]." JA60-61, 203. Fewer than 150 members did so. JA61. Indeed, during the next year, the Activism Caucus would push for Boycott signatures but secured them from, at most, 20% of ASA's then-membership. JA66, 205; *see supra* n.2.

As president-elect, Marez announced at the 2012 ASA meeting that he planned to organize "a major plenary session, entitled 'Town Hall: The United

11

² Defendants represented to the ASA body in 2013 that the total number of Boycott supporters at the time was approximately 800; Plaintiffs allege that the true number was 400-450. JA53, 66, 205.

States and Israel/Palestine' at the 2013 Annual Meeting," when ASA leadership would be stacked with Boycott supporters. *See* JA61-63. Then-president Matthew Jacobson, an outgoing officer, warned Defendants that "any[]" statement "that the executive committee or council issues on behalf of the organization and the membership needs to conform to the by-laws." JA61-62, 204.

At the 2013 meeting, the National Council invited pro-Boycott speakers to give "prime-time sessions" on the subjects of "Palestine in Crisis" and "Academic Freedom and the Right to Education: The Question of Palestine." JA63, 204-205. Despite Defendants' fiduciary obligation to treat all members equally, to avoid putting their own political interests above the interests and mission of the ASA, and to avoid conferring unique benefits or advantages on themselves, *Willens v.* 2720 Wisc. Ave Co-op Assn, 844 A.2d 1126, 1136 (D.C. 2004), they invited no speakers to present alternate views. JA63.

Defendants were fully aware that they were inviting only pro-Boycott speakers, but then-president Marez had no "scruples about appearing to stack the deck." JA65-66. Additionally, despite "know[ing] the American Studies Association does not have funds it devotes to travel expenses for invited guests," JA65, and despite his fiduciary obligation not to confer "unequal" benefits on certain ASA members, *Willens*, 844 A.2d at 1136, Marez pushed to provide foreign pro-Boycott advocates with "a waiver of registration and travel stipend."

JA63-65, 205. Defendant Reddy acknowledged in one email that these plans were covert, intentional, and likely to cause backlash if publicly known:

I'm not sure about putting this all on email, ... We did have a strategic purpose in inviting these scholars. ... The strategy as discussed at Executive Committee was that any interference with the scholar's travel would give [ASA] a reason to address academic freedom issues ... It is true that the invitation for these scholars to speak could be seen as "stacking the deck" by the EC.

JA63-65, 205. Throughout, Kauanui, Maira and Tadiar communicated with USACBI leadership on the progress of the ASA Boycott campaign. JA67-68, 206.

c) Failing to pass the Boycott Resolution through the stacked National Council alone, Defendants put it to membership vote

In November 2013, the National Council unsuccessfully attempted to adopt a resolution joining the Boycott without putting it to membership vote. JA69-70. The Council did agree to endorse the Boycott Resolution, but only if the ASA membership approved it—a condition Kauanui explained to USACBI leadership was "difficult for me and Sunaina to stomach—but it was the only way." JA69-70, 206-207. Maira and Kauanui formed a Google group entitled "ASA-boycott-coordination," along with USACBI leaders unaffiliated with the ASA, which strategized different ways to garner support for the upcoming vote. JA70-71, 206-207.

One method Defendants took was the unprecedented step of removing Plaintiff Bronner—editor of the Encyclopedia and member of the National

Council—from the 2013 National Council meeting. JA71-72, 207-208.

Defendants did so after discussing over email that Bronner opposed the resolution and was communicating that view to other members. *Id.* Defendants also refused to post information questioning or condemning the Resolution on the ASA website. JA73-74, 208. Defendants undertook these actions in violation of their fiduciary obligations to treat all ASA members equally, to put the best interests of the ASA above their own personal interests, and to disclose all material facts regarding important decisions impacting the future of the ASA. *See Willens*, 844 A.2d at 1136.

Defendants also formed a pro-Boycott subcommittee of the National Council to, among other things, draft talking points for the media and reluctant members adopted from USACBI materials and with USACBI guidance. JA76-77, 208-209. Correctly anticipating that adopting the Boycott would eventually require the ASA to "put out ... fires," JA78; *see infra* pp.16-18, and in violation of their fiduciary obligation to put the interests of the ASA above their own and to act for the benefit of the ASA collective, *Willens*, 844 A.2d at 1136, Defendants inquired amongst themselves "whether the cost of public relations professionals could be paid from ASA funds." JA77-78, 209.

d) Defendants freeze ASA membership rolls one week before voting on the Resolution

On November 25, 2013, Defendants froze ASA's membership rolls, an act neither contemplated nor permitted by the ASA constitution. JA78-80, 209-210. A week later, they announced that ASA members would vote on the Boycott Resolution and instructed membership officers "to hold all orders for membership until the vote was over." JA54.

All ASA members in good standing enjoyed "the right to vote or hold office in the association." JA134-135, 147. Members whose dues were six months behind did not, but they could be "reinstated at any time by the payment in advance of one year's dues." JA78, 209. As Salaita admitted, the ASA typically permitted all ASA members to "wait until a day before an election, pay their dues, and vote[.]" JA78-80, 209-210. But by freezing the membership rolls, Defendants blocked many longtime ASA members—such as Plaintiff Barton—from voting on the Boycott Resolution, JA80, 210, in violation of both the ASA constitution and Defendants' fiduciary obligation to act for the benefit of the ASA collective. *Willens*, 844 A.2d at 1136; JA147.

Defendants froze membership rolls specifically to manipulate the voting process. Prior to announcing the vote, Stephens sent a series of emails to Kauanui explaining that while he knew some "opponents" of the resolution were "withholding their renewals as a protest," "once a referendum is announced [they] may move to renew in order to vote[.]" JA82-83, 211. Accordingly, Stephens

proposed that "the day we announce any vote is the cutoff date for voter registration." JA82, 211. Defendants ultimately decided to cut off registration even earlier. JA83, 211.

3. Defendants hold an untimely vote and announce, in contravention of the bylaws and D.C. law, that ASA membership adopted the Boycott Resolution

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