DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 23-CV-240

Clerk of the Court
Received 10/19/2023 02:07 PM

Filed 10/19/2023 02:07 PM

SIMON BRONNER, et al., Appellants,

v.

AMERICAN STUDIES ASSOCIATION, et al., Appellees

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (Hon. Robert R. Rigsby, J.)

BRIEF OF APPELLEES, LISA DUGGAN, CURTIS MAREZ, NEFERTI TADIAR, SUNAINA MAIRA, CHANDEN REDDY, JOHN STEPHENS AND THE AMERICAN STUDIES ASSOCIATION

Thomas C. Mugavero, Esq. #431512)
Jeffrey C. Seaman (#466509)
Whiteford, Taylor & Preston L.L.P.
3190 Fairview Park Drive, Suite 800
Falls Church, VA 22042
(703) 280-9260
Counsel for Lisa Duggan, Curtis Marez,

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

Thus, Counts One and Three claim that the Defendants breached their fiduciary duty by not disclosing their support for the Resolution when campaigning for ASA's National Council, or by deliberately nominating candidates who

supported the Resolution. Counts Two and Nine assert that the National Council misused Association funds and committed waste by spending money on the Resolution. Count Five claims that the Resolution itself is a form of lobbying, which is not allowed for ASA. Count Ten claims that the only reason that the National Council decided not to renew Dr. Bronner's contract as Editor of the ASA Encyclopedia is because they supported the Resolution, and he did not. In each case, the corporate act – nominating candidates, allocating funds or setting policy – was challenged solely because it related to the Resolution. The Resolution, therefore, stands at the heart of each of these Counts. Finally, Counts Eleven and Twelve – which claim conspiracy and tortious interference with contract – are "catch-all" counts, asserting alternative theories of recovery for the same alleged actions. Just as the previous Counts arose out of the Resolution, so too do Counts Eleven and Twelve.

None of these Counts have a likelihood of success on the merits. Counts 1 and Three are time-barred, and there is no corporate obligation either to disclose a candidate's opinion on every possible issue, or to ensure that a slate has a sufficient group of differing opinions on every conceivable issue. Counts Two and Nine are both derivative in nature, and thus are collaterally estopped by the rulings in the federal lawsuit. Moreover, even taken at face value, none of the allegations in the Complaint would suggest that ASA suffered a significant financial loss as a result

of adoption of the Resolution. Count Five is both time-barred and collaterally estopped. Count Ten must fail because the Editor Contract explicitly permits the National Council to decide not to renew the contract for any reason. Thus, there can be no breach of fiduciary duty for failing to renew. Finally, Counts Eleven and Twelve fail because there can be no tortious interference with a contract in the absence of a breach of that contract, and because an association cannot conspire with its own representatives.

The Defendants made their prima facie case under the Anti-SLAPP Act; in order to avoid dismissal with prejudice, Plaintiffs were required to produce affirmative evidence to show a likelihood of success on the merits. Plaintiffs did not meet this burden, and in fact produced no evidence to oppose the Anti-SLAPP motions. Their argument that they should have been allowed to rely on the allegations in the Complaint is misplaced. First, as this Court has noted, an Anti-SLAPP analysis is akin to a summary judgment motion, and it is established that an opponent of a summary judgment motion must produce affirmative, admissible evidence to show a material fact at issue. Allegations in the complaint will not suffice. Second, the evidence to which Plaintiffs point are all quotations from emails and other documents, none of which are undisputed. Without putting the source documents into the record, Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate that their quotes, and their interpretations, are at all accurate.

Moreover, those quotations are almost entirely related to events that occurred in 2012 and 2013, and thus relate to time-barred claims. Given that a stale claim has no likelihood of success on the merits, regardless of the quality of evidence supporting it, reliance on those quotes does not advance Plaintiffs' cause. In order to save Counts Two and Nine, and Count Ten, Plaintiff had to put forward affirmative evidence of the Association's finances, and how that has been affected by the adoption of the Resolution or by the non-renewal of the Editor contract. None of that evidence is in the record. Plaintiffs failed to meet the second prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis, and their Complaint was properly dismissed with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review for dismissal on a motion to dismiss is *de novo*. The complaint must present "sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face." "[T]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice." *Fourth Growth, LLC v. Wright*, 183 A.3d 1284, 1288 (D.C. 2018).

The standard of review on an Anti-SLAPP motion is also *de novo*. *Doe No*. *1 v. Burke*, 91 A.3d 1031, 1040 (D.C. 2014).

B. The Superior Court Properly Dismissed Counts Four, Six, Seven and Eight under Rule 12(b)(6) As Time-Barred

1. The Statute of Limitations Is Not Tolled Here

For all but a handful of causes of action, none of which are relevant here, the statute of limitations in the District of Columbia is three years. *See* D.C. Code § 12–301. The instant lawsuit was filed on March 25, 2019; thus, the Professors' claims must have accrued no earlier than March 25, 2016. As the Complaint makes clear, however, the majority of the Professors' claims accrued in 2012 and 2013, well outside the applicable limitations period.

Appellants argue that the limitations period should be tolled during the time that the case was pending in the federal court. The law in the District of Columbia, however, is directly to the contrary. This Court has repeatedly stated that there is no equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. In *Bond v. Serano*, 566 A.2d 47 (D.C. 1989), the plaintiff sued the District of Columbia in federal court in 1986; when the District moved to dismiss for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction, plaintiff immediately filed a companion case in Superior Court. A year after initially denying the District's motion, the federal court, *sua sponte*, dismissed the District from the federal lawsuit. This Court held that the pendency of the federal case did not toll the statute of limitations, and plaintiff's claims against the District were

time-barred.² Similarly, Curtis v. Aluminum Assn, 607 A.2d 509 (D.C. 1992) involved a suit in federal court against a limited partnership; a year later, the Supreme Court held in an unrelated case that the citizenship of limited partners had to be considered for purposes of diversity jurisdiction. Although the Curtis plaintiff filed a new suit in Superior Court before his federal case was dismissed, his claims were still held to be time-barred. See also Huang v. D'Albora, 644 A.2d 1 (D.C. 1994) (medical malpractice arbitration in Maryland did not toll limitations period); Sayyad v. Fawzi, 674 A.2d 905 (D.C. 1996) (timely suit in Superior Court was dismissed for failure to properly serve the defendants; by the time the plaintiff complied with the procedural requirements to file a new complaint, the limitations period had lapsed); c.f. Stewart-Veal v. District of Columbia, 896 A.2d 232 (D.C. 2006) (where prior complaint was dismissed for insufficiency of service of process, one-year limitation period for intentional torts was not tolled, although a negligence claim was still timely).

The cases cited by Appellants do not address statutes of limitations, but rather rules-based deadlines for judicial review. *Mathis v. Dist. of Columbia Housing Auth.*, 124 A.3d 1089 (D.C. 2015) involved application of D.C. App. Rule

Appellants claim that *Bond* has been superseded (Br. at 33). It is not clear where Appellants might have gotten that impression, but it does not appear to have been from any statement by this Court, or from any ruling by the federal courts.

15, and review of an agency order. As the *Mathis* Court noted, "[t]he dividing line between jurisdictional and claim-processing rules has been in flux over the last decade." 124 A.3d at 1101. The deadline in Rule 15 was ultimately deemed non-jurisdictional. *Neil v. D.C. Pub. Empl. Rel. Bd.*, 234 A.3d 177 (D.C. 2020) involved a claim under the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act (D.C. Code § 1-601.01 *et seq.*). The plaintiff claimed that the deadline set in 6B DCMR § 544.4 for review of an administrative order was not jurisdictional; the *Neil* Court, however, found that it did not need to reach that issue, as even equitable tolling could not excuse the multi-year delay in filing the review petition.

Finally, Simpson v. D.C. Office of Human Rights, 597 A.2d 392 (D.C. 1991) is highly inapposite. In that case, after the Office of Human Rights issued a finding of no probable cause on plaintiff's claims, this Court took jurisdiction of the petition for review, but then dismissed on the parties' stipulation that the Commission on Human Rights would review the OHR determination. That review, however, was short-circuited when the Corporation Counsel opined that the Commission lacked the necessary authority. Plaintiff's appeal back to this Court was first reinstated, then dismissed for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to the Court's opinion in an unrelated case. Only then did plaintiff file in the Superior Court. Ultimately, the Simpson Court found that "procedural technicalities" were inappropriate within the statutory scheme of the Human Rights Act, where

claimants were generally unrepresented. 597 A.2d at 401-2. As such, her cause of action did not accrue until the date that this Court dismissed the reinstated appeal for lack of jurisdiction. Her complaint in the Superior Court was filed less than three years after that date. The issue on remand in *Simpson* was not equitable tolling of the statute of limitations, but rather the District's argument that plaintiff had failed to exercise due diligence in bringing her claim. *See* 597 A.2d at 403-4.

Simpson's unique facts, therefore, make it eminently distinguishable from the instant suit. Where Ms. Simpson was unrepresented for most of her litigation, Plaintiffs here have been represented by counsel from the beginning. Where Ms. Simpson was ultimately caught by unanticipated procedural complexities that delayed the accrual of her cause of action, it was clear early on that Plaintiff's claims in the federal court should fail. Where Ms. Simpson sought judicial review within days of the agency decision, the federal lawsuit here was not filed until April 2016, just a few months shy of the three-year limitation period for most of the claims.³ By March, 2017, the U.S. District Court had dismissed any derivative claims for failure to comply with D.C. Code § 29-411.03; despite repeated motions in the federal court, Plaintiffs did not attempt to shore up their position by

Appellant's Brief asserts that the suit was filed "a mere month after their claims *accrued*" (Br. at 34). Appellants are simply wrong. All of the claims in the federal suit, save for a claim on continuing loss of funds, occurred in 2012 and 2013, with the adoption of the Resolution.

proffering any evidence of individual damages. Ultimately, that failure doomed their federal suit (*see Bronner v. Duggan*, 962 F.3d 596, 609-610 (D.C.Cir. 2020)).

Simpson neither abrogated Bond v. Serano nor called it into question. Appellants are simply mistaken in their assertion that Bond "is both outdated and factually distinct." (Br. at 32). The cases cited supra are testament to this Court's unwavering adherence to the strict application of the statutes of limitations.⁴

As this Court has stated, "once a suit is dismissed, even if without prejudice, the tolling effect of the filing of the suit is wiped out and the statute of limitations is deemed to have continued running from whenever the cause of action accrued, without interruption by that filing." *Stewart-Veal, supra*, 896 A.2d at 237 (2006). Regardless of the history of the federal action, the statute of limitations started to run in 2013. The instant lawsuit, filed in 2019, comes far too late.

2. Counts Four, Six, Seven and Eight of the Complaint Were Properly Dismissed Under Rule 12(b)(6)

The trial court ruled that Counts Four, Six, Seven and Eight of the Complaint did not arise "from an act in furtherance of the right of advocacy on

17

It is true that the *per curiam* opinion in *Bond* noted that "the issue may be worthy of *en banc* consideration." (566 A.2d at 49). However, no such review was held, and none of the subsequent cases have entertained the same possibility. Judge Farrell's observation still holds true: the Court is "not at liberty, as a coequal branch of government, to adopt a broad tolling exception to the time limitation which the legislature has placed on the right to litigate." *Bond*, 566 A.2d at 50 (Farrell, J., concurring).

issues of public interest." (App. 375- 377). Appellees do not contest that finding here; the counts remain dismissed as time-barred. Nonetheless, the Counts were properly dismissed.

Count Four seeks injunctive relief for "Defendants' decision to freeze the [ASA] membership rolls as of November 25, 2013" (App. 128 ¶ 281). The lawsuit filed in 2019 lies far outside the three-year statute of limitations for that occurrence. Similarly, Count Eight claims that Mr. Barton was denied the right to vote on the Resolution. Again, that election was held in 2013, and there is no other allegation that Mr. Barton sought to vote on anything else (App. 80 ¶¶ 127, 128). This claim, too, is time-barred.

Counts Six and Seven claim that the Resolution was improperly adopted, both because of illegal vote procedures (App. 132-3 ¶ 302) and because of a lack of quorum (App. 133-4 ¶¶ 306, 307). As the Resolution was adopted in December, 2013 (App. 084-5 ¶ 139), any voting improprieties obviously occurred then – well outside the three-year limitation period.

C. The Court Properly Dismissed Counts 1-3, 5 and 9-12 Pursuant to the Anti-SLAPP Act

1. The Resolution, and Support Thereof, Falls Within the Act

The D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act sets a two-stage framework for motions to dismiss. First, the moving party must make a "prima facie showing that the claim

at issue arises from an act in furtherance of the right of advocacy on issues of public interest." D.C. Code § 16-5502(b). This showing is "not onerous." *Doe v. Burke*, 91 A.3d 1031, 1043 (D.C. 2014). The burden then shifts to the non-movant to demonstrate "that the claim is likely to succeed on the merits." *Id.* Unlike a motion to dismiss under Sup.Ct.R. 12(b)(6), the Anti-SLAPP special motion requires an evidentiary showing by the non-movant: it is "essentially an expedited summary judgment motion". *American Studies Assn. v. Bronner*, 259 A.3d 728, 740-41 (D.C. 2021). If, as here, Plaintiffs do not meet that burden, the claims are properly dismissed. *Doe v. Burke*, 133 A.3d 569, 578 (D.C. 2016).

The Act defines "an act in furtherance of a right of advocacy" as, in pertinent part, "[a]ny written or oral statement made ... in a public forum in connection with an issue of public interest; or any other expression ... communicating views to members of the public in connection with an issue of public interest." D.C. Code § 16-5501. As this Court has noted, a claim "arises from" an act in furtherance of public advocacy if the "party's statutorily protected activity [is] the basis for that party's asserted liability." *American Studies Assn.*, 259 A.3d at 734. "[T]he act underlying the plaintiff's cause or the act which forms the basis for the plaintiff's cause of action must *itself* have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech." *Id.* at 746-7 (emphasis in original).

The claims in the Complaint arise entirely out of the passage of the ASA's Resolution in support of Palestinian rights: the Professors bemoan that the Resolution itself is misguided, that the membership was misinformed, and that funds spent in support of the Resolution were "wasted." Although the Professors ostensibly challenge the actions of the ASA National Council, they have sued individuals (Puar and Tadiar) who never served on the Council as well as Dr. Salaita, notwithstanding the complete absence of any allegation as to what he might have done while on the National Council. Clearly, specific individuals have been targeted as defendants solely because they supported, promoted, or advocated for the Resolution.

There can be little question that passage of the Resolution falls within the ambit of the Act. The Resolution, motivated by a concern for Palestinian rights, reflects an "effort to change the social, political, and economic structure of a local environment," and is "designed to force governmental and economic change and to effectuate rights...." *NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co.*, 458 U.S. 886, 914, 933 (1982). Other courts have held that boycotts related to Palestinian rights are a matter of public interest. *See Jordahl v. Brnovich*, 336 F. Supp. 3d 1016, 1047 (D. Ariz. 2018), *vacated as moot*, 789 F.App'x 589 (9th Cir. 2020) (preliminarily enjoining Arizona law targeting companies that engage in boycotts against Israel); *Davis v. Cox*, 325 P.3d 255, 265 (Wash. Ct. App. 2014), *rev'd on other grounds*,

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